
 
Despatched: 14.10.15 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

22 October 2015 at 7.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks 

 

AGENDA 

 

Membership: 

 
Chairman: Cllr. Williamson 

 

Vice-Chairman Cllr. Thornton 

Cllrs. Ball, Barnes, Bosley, Brown, Clark, Cooke, Edwards-Winser, Gaywood, Hogg, Horwood, 

Mrs. Hunter, Kitchener, Layland, Parkin, Purves, Raikes and Miss. Stack 

 

 

 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Pages 

 

1.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 10) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

1 October 2015, as a correct record. 

 

 

2. Declarations of Interest or Predetermination  

 Including any interests not already registered 

 

 

3. Declarations of Lobbying  

 

 

4.   Planning Applications - Chief Planning Officer's Report  
 

 

4.1. SE/15/02057/HOUSE San Michele, Church Road, Hartley, 

Kent DA3 8DZ  

(Pages 11 - 24) 

 Demolition of existing outbuilding and erection of a single storey 

rear extension. 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.) 

 

 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain 

factual information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the 

appropriate Contact Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format 



 

 

please do not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 

If you wish to speak in support or against a planning application on this agenda, please 

call the Council’s Contact Centre on 01732 227000 

 

For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

The Democratic Services Team (01732 227247) 

 

Any Member who wishes to request the Chairman to agree a pre-meeting site inspection 

is asked to email democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk or speak to a member of the 

Democratic Services Team on 01732 227247 by 5pm on Monday, 19 October 2015. 

 

The Council's Constitution provides that a site inspection may be determined to be 

necessary if:  

 

i.  Particular site factors are significant in terms of weight attached to them 

relative to other factors and it would be difficult to assess those factors 

without a Site Inspection. 

 

ii. The characteristics of the site need to be viewed on the ground in order to 

assess the broader impact of the proposal. 

 

iii. Objectors to and/or supporters of a proposal raise matters in respect of 

site characteristics, the importance of which can only reasonably be 

established by means of a Site Inspection. 

 

iv. The scale of the proposal is such that a Site Inspection is essential to 

enable Members to be fully familiar with all site-related matters of fact. 

 

v. There are very significant policy or precedent issues and where site-

specific factors need to be carefully assessed. 

 

When requesting a site inspection, the person making such a request must state under 

which of the above five criteria the inspection is requested and must also provide 

supporting justification. 

 



 

81 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2015 commencing at 7.00 pm 

 

Present: Cllr. Williamson (Chairman)  

 

Cllr. Thornton (Vice Chairman) 

  

 Cllrs. Bosley, Brown, Clark, Edwards-Winser, Hogg, Horwood, Kitchener, 

Layland, Parkin, Purves, Raikes, and Miss. Stack  

 

 Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs. Cooke, Gaywood and 

Mrs. Hunter 

 

 Cllrs. Mrs. Bayley, Brookbank, Dyball, Fleming and Searles were also present. 

 

 

45. Minutes  

 

Resolved: That the Minutes of the Development Control Committee held on 10 

September 2015 be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 

46. Declarations of Interest or Predetermination  

 

Cllr. Barnes declared for minute item 51 – SE/15/00118/FUL – United House, Goldsel 

Road, Swanley BR8 8EX that he was a Member of Swanley Town Council.  

 

Cllr. Hogg declared for minute item 51 – SE/15/00118/FUL – United House, Goldsel 

Road, Swanley BR8 8EX that he was a Member of Swanley Town Council but would 

remain open minded.  

 

Cllr. Horwood declared for minute item 51 - SE/15/00118/FUL – United House, Goldsel 

Road, Swanley BR8 8EX that he was purchasing a property in Edwards Drive, Swanley.  

 

Cllr. Raikes declared for minute item 52 – SE/15/02085/FUL - Lady Boswells C of E 

Primary School, Plymouth Drive, Sevenoaks, TN13 3RP that he was a Member of 

Sevenoaks Town Council and had been party to decision of Sevenoaks Town Council but 

would remain open minded.  

 

Cllr. Brown declared for minute item 52 - SE/15/02085/FUL Lady Boswells C of E 

Primary School, Plymouth Drive, Sevenoaks, TN13 3RP that he lived close to the 

application site. He also declared for minute item 53 SE/15/02261/HOUSE– 32 

Bullfinch Lane, Riverhead TN13 2EB he was one of the Local Members and would be 

speaking during the debate.  

 

47. Declarations of Lobbying  

 

Cllrs: Clark, Edwards–Winser, Horwood, Layland, Parkin, Miss Stack and Thornton 

declared that they had been lobbied in respect of minute item 52 – SE/15/02085/FUL – 

Lady Boswells C of E Primary School, Plymouth Drive, Sevenoaks TN13 3RP. 

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

82 
 

48. SE/15/00722/FUL 49A College Road, Hextable BR8 7LN  

 

The Committee was advised that the item had been withdrawn from the agenda because 

the applicant had withdrawn the planning application. 

 

Unreserved Planning Applications 

 

There were no public speakers against the following items and no Member reserved the 

item for debate. Therefore, in accordance with Part 7.3(e) of the constitution, the 

following matters were considered without debate: 

 

49. SE/15/01983/HOUSE 11A Hillydeal Road, Otford  TN14 5RT  

 

The proposal was for the erection of a two storey side extension. The item had been 

referred to Development Control Committee by the local members who were concerned 

that the proposals would not preserve the open character of the area.  

 

Resolved: That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions:  

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match those used on the existing 

building. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development is in harmony with the 

existing character of the as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks 

Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

3) No windows or other openings other than indicated on the drawings hereby 

approved shall be inserted at first floor level in the east flank or northern 

(rear) elevations of the extension hereby approved despite the provisions of 

any development order. 

To safeguard the privacy of residents as supported by Policy EN2 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

4) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 841/01, 04, 05 and 06 received 29 June2015. 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

83 
 

Informatives 

1) The proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view 

that the CIL IS PAYABLE. Full details will be set out in the CIL Liability Notice 

which will be issued with this decision or as soon as possible after the 

decision. 

 

50. SE/15/01998/HOUSE Charthurst, Chart Lane, Brasted  TN16 1LU  

 

The application sought permission for the demolition of existing garage and existing 

single storey side and rear extension. Installation of rooflights and alterations to 

fenestration. The application had been referred to Committee as the applicant was 

related to an officer in employment within the Council.  

 

Resolved: that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions: 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match those used on the existing 

building. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development is in harmony with the 

existing character of the dwelling as supported by Policy EN1 of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

3) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved the 

detached garage as shown for removal on the approved plan no. 5278-PD-01 

Rev. A shall be demolished and all materials arising therefrom shall be 

removed from the site. 

In the interests of visual amenities of the surrounding area and to prevent 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt in accordance with Policy EN1 

and GB3 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

4) Before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the land for 

the purposes of the development, the approved development shall be carried 

out in such a manner as to avoid damage to the existing trees, including their 

root systems, and other planting to be retained by observing the following: 

 

(a) All trees to be preserved shall be marked on site and protected during any 

operation on site by temporary fencing in accordance with BS 5837:2012 or 

otherwise to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. The means of 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

84 
 

tree protection shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and 

surplus materials have been removed from the land; 

 

(b) No fires shall be lit within the spread of branches of the trees and other 

vegetation; 

 

(c) No materials or equipment shall be stored within the spread of the 

branches of the trees and other vegetation; 

 

(d) No roots over 50mm diameter shall be cut, and no buildings, roads or 

other engineering operations shall be constructed or carried out within the 

spread of the branches of the trees and other vegetation; 

 

(e) Ground levels within the spread of the branches of the trees and other 

vegetation shall not be raised or lowered in relation to the existing ground 

level, except as may be otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to 

protect the appearance and character of the site and locality in accordance 

with Policy EN1 of the Local Plan 

5) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 5278-PD-01 Rev. A, 5278-PD-03 Rev. B. 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Reserved Planning Applications 

 

The Committee considered the following planning applications:  

 

51. SE/15/00118/FUL United House, Goldsel Road, Swanley  BR8 8EX  

 

The application sought permission for the demolition of existing industrial and office 

buildings and redevelopment of site for 201 dwellings with associated parking and public 

open space. Creation of a layby with 3 No. parking spaces on Goldsel Road. Revised 

details received relating to location of layby, noise impacts, ecology, public open space 

and affordable housing. The application was referred to the Committee by Cllr. Searles to 

consider the impact of the development on the operation of Swantex Paper Mill, the 

density of the development and its impact on highways and local infrastructure.  

 

Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers and the late observations 

sheet which proposed amendments to condition 20 and included two further conditions.  

 

The Committee was addressed by the following speakers: 

 

Against the Application:  John Escott 

For the Application: Andy Meader 

Parish Representative: Cllr. Searles 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

85 
 

Local Member: Cllr. Searles and Cllr. Brookbank  

 

Members asked questions of clarification from the speakers and officers.   

 

In response to questions Members were advised that the properties which backed onto 

the Swantex Paper Mill would not have habitable rooms at the back of the properties and 

noise readings had been taken over a 4 week period with readings every 15 minutes. The 

Housing Allocations Policy required a mix of housing from 1 to 4 bedroom properties and 

although 185 had been suggested in the policy it could rise as the site was located near 

to a town centre. 

 

It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendation in the 

agenda to grant planning permission be agreed.  

 

Members were concerned at the density and discussed the number of affordable 

housing units. It was noted that provision of affordable housing had been proved as the 

maximum reasonable that would be viable for the development to provide. Members 

discussed additional traffic implications the development could have on the surrounding 

roads. 

 

Some Members expressed concern at the noise from the Swantex Paper Mill and 

although it was noted that there were mitigations in place to reduce the noise impact as 

set out in condition 12 and that no occupation of the residential units could take place 

until the acoustic protection was approved by the Council and implemented by the 

developer. However some Members were concerned that the noise would still travel and 

would be more noticeable at night. Members considered how the employment site, of 

Swantex Paper Mill could be affected.  

 

The motion was put to the vote and it was lost.  

 

It was moved and duly seconded that the application be refused on the grounds that the 

proposal represented an overdevelopment of the site; the noise and highways impact; 

the threat of loss of employment and that the Council’s housing target had been 

reached.  

 

The motion was put to the vote and it was: 

 

Resolved: That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 

1) The proposed development, by reason of its layout and design would provide 

substandard accommodation that would be harmful to the amenities of future 

occupiers and prejudice the operations of the adjacent industrial use, contrary to 

the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Policy Guidance, Noise Policy 

Statement for England and policies EN2, EN7, H2(b) and EMP1(n) of the 

Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan (2015).  

 

2) The proposed development, by reason of creating additional traffic movements, 

would result in adverse travel impacts that would be harmful to existing highway 

congestion and amenity contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework and 

policies EN2 and T1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management 

Plan (2015).  

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

86 
 

 

3) The proposed development, by reason of its density would result in 

overdevelopment of this site, which is compounded by the above reasons for 

refusal and its inability to accommodate further development on the site without 

harm. Given that the Council is meeting its housing targets, there is no need to 

exceed the level agreed in the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development 

Management Plan (2015) contrary to policy SP7 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy 

(2011) and policies EN1 and H2(b) of the Sevenoaks Allocations and 

Development Management Plan (2015).  

 

 

(Cllr. Brown entered the chamber and gave his declarations of interest). 

 

52. SE/15/02085/FUL Lady Boswells C Of E Primary School, Plymouth Drive, 

Sevenoaks  TN13 3RP  

 

The proposal was for the erection of a single storey, timber clad modular building to be 

used as a pre-school and wraparound care for Lady Boswell’s School. The application 

was referred to committee as the officer’s recommendation was contrary to that of the 

Town Council and Councillor Fleming who had requested that the item was brought to 

Development Control Committee to examine the case for very special circumstances.  

 

Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers and the late observations 

sheet which did not propose any amendments or changes to the recommendation before 

the committee.  

 

Against the Application:  - 

For the Application: Fiona Gruneberg  

Parish Representative: - 

Local Member: Cllr. Fleming  

 

Members asked questions of clarification from the speakers and officers.  

 

It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendation in the report 

to refuse planning permission be agreed.  

 

Members discussed whether the very special circumstances put forward by the applicant 

outweighed the harm to the Green Belt. Members discussed the importance of 

expanding an educational facility in the District. Some concerns were expressed at 

additional traffic and whether the current traffic management plan provided enough 

detail on children being taken to the pre-school and the parking facilities for staff.  

 

The motion to refuse planning permission was put to the vote and it was lost.  

 

It was moved and duly seconded that the application should be granted due to the very 

special circumstances outweighing the harm to the Green Belt and due to the 

educational need within the District and for a new traffic plan including details for access 

within the site in consultation with the local members be agreed.  

 

The motion was put to the vote and it was: 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

87 
 

Resolved: that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions: 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: Site Location Plan received 15.07.15, SW/15/001 

rev b, SW/15/002 rev b, SW/15/003 and SW/15/004. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the development shall be those 

indicated on the approved plan drawing number SW/15/004 and those 

specified on the planning application form submitted. 

 

To ensure that the appearance of the development enhances the character 

and appearance of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks 

Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

4) Any lighting installed on or around the building shall not be directed to shine 
on the south-eastern boundary of the site shared with Knole Park. 

 

To avoid impacting upon the adjacent Site of Special Scientific Interest as 

supported by policy SP11 of the Core Strategy. 

 

5) Notwithstanding the information submitted, no development shall be carried 

on the land until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The use of the building shall be then carried 

out wholly in accordance with the approved travel plan thereafter. 

 

In the interests of highway safety and visual amenity as supported by policy 

EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. The 

Local Planning Authority is satisfied that it is fundamental to the development 

permitted to address this issue before development commences and that 

without this safeguard planning permission should not be granted. 

 

6) No development shall be carried out on the land until full details of hard and 

soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Council. Those details shall include:- existing and proposed areas of hard 

surfacing, and details of the finishing surface; 

 

- planting plans (identifying existing planting, plants to be retained and new 

planting); 

- a schedule of new plants (noting species, size of stock at time of planting 

and proposed number/densities); and 

- a programme of implementation. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

88 
 

To safeguard the visual appearance of the area as supported by policy EN1 of 

the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. The Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied that it is fundamental to the development 

permitted to address this issue before development commences and that 

without this safeguard planning permission should not be granted. 

 

7) Hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out before first occupation of 
the building. The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. If within a period of five years from the completion of the 

development, any of the trees or plants that form part of the approved details 

of soft landscaping die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 

diseased then they shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 

similar size and species. 

 

To safeguard the visual appearance of the area as supported by policy EN1 of 

the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. 

 

8)  No development shall be carried out on the land until a plan indicating the 

positions, design and materials of all means of enclosure to be retained and 

erected has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 

 

To safeguard the visual appearance of the area as supported by policy EN1 of 

the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development Management Plan. The Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied that it is fundamental to the development 

permitted to address this issue before development commences and that 

without this safeguard planning permission should not be granted. 

 

53. SE/15/02261/HOUSE 32 Bullfinch Lane, Riverhead TN13 2EB  

 

The proposal was for the removal of existing conservatory and demolition of existing 

porch and the erection of an infill extension and first and attic floors to the existing 

bungalow. The application had been referred to committee by Cllr. Bayley who had 

considered the application to be suitable in design terms, in conjunction with policy EN1 

of the ADMP.  

 

Members’ attention was brought to the main agenda papers.  

 

The Committee was addressed by the following speaker: 

 

Against the Application:  - 

For the Application: - 

Parish Representative: - 

Local Member: Cllr. Bayley  

 

Members asked questions of clarification from the officers. 

 

It was moved by the Chairman and duly seconded that the recommendation in the report 

to refuse planning permission be agreed.  

 

The Local Member speaking from the floor advised he was concerned that the images 

shown in the officer’s presentation were misleading and not a fair reflection of Bullfinch 

Page 8

Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee - 1 October 2015 

89 
 

Lane. Members noted that a Residential Character Assessment of the area had taken 

place and discussed whether the application was in keeping with the assessment.  

Members discussed the previous application submitted and noted the application was 

1.3 meters higher.  

 

The motion was put to the vote and it was  

 

Resolved: That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reason: 

 

The proposal would harm the appearance and character of the Residential 

Character Area and street scene because of uncharacteristic design and height of 

the roof. This conflicts with policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and 

Development Management Plan.  

 

 

 

 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 9.52 PM 

 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



(Item 4.1)  1 

4.1 – SE/15/02057/HOUSE Revised expiry date 2 November 2015 

PROPOSAL: Demolition of existing outbuilding and erection of a single 

storey rear extension. 

LOCATION: San Michele, Church Road, Hartley, Kent DA3 8DZ  

WARD(S): Hartley & Hodsoll Street 

ITEM FOR DECISION 

This application is referred to Development Control Committee at the request of Councillor 

Gaywood on the basis that the proposed development would represent inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt and the Very Special Circumstances advanced are not 

considered sufficient to justify the development. 

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions:- 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: BDS-1298-05 Rev A, BDS-1298-02 Rev A, BDS-1298-100 Rev A. 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the development shall be those 

indicated in email dated 06.10.15. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development is in harmony with the existing character 

of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Allocations and Development 

Management Plan.. 

4) Prior to the commencement of the development the outbuilding within 5 metres of 

the dwelling identified on drawing number BDS-1298-05 Rev A shall be demolished in its 

entirety and all resulting materials shall be removed from the land. 

To protect the openness of the Green Belt and to support the very special circumstances of 

the case including maintaining the openness of the Green Belt. The Local Planning Authority 

is satisfied that it is fundamental to the development permitted to address this issue before 

development commences and that without this safeguard planning permission should not 

be granted. 

5) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order (England and Wales) 2015 as amended (or any Order revoking or re-

enacting those Orders) no development falling within Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and G of Part 1 

of Schedule 2 to the said Order shall be carried out. 

To prevent further inappropriate development in the Green Belt as supported by the 

National Planning Policy Framework and policy GB1 of the Allocations and Development 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  2 

Agreement Plan. 

6) No development shall take place until all existing outbuildings (excluding those 

identified on site location plan number BDS-1298-100 Rev A) have been demolished and all 

resulting materials have been removed from the land. 

To protect the openness of the Green Belt and to support the very special circumstances of 

the case including maintaining the openness of the Green Belt. The Local Planning Authority 

is satisfied that it is fundamental to the development permitted to address this issue before 

development commences and that without this safeguard planning permission should not 

be granted. 

Note to Applicant 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Sevenoaks District Council (SDC) 

takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals.  SDC works with 

applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner, by; 

• Offering a duty officer service to provide initial planning advice, 

• Providing a pre-application advice service, 

• When appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any small scale issues that may 

arise in the processing of their application, 

• Where possible and appropriate suggesting solutions to secure a successful 

outcome, 

• Allowing applicants to keep up to date with their application and viewing all 

consultees comments on line 

(www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/environment/planning/planning_services_online/654.asp), 

• By providing a regular forum for planning agents, 

• Working in line with the NPPF to encourage developments that improve the improve 

the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, 

• Providing easy on line access to planning policies and guidance, and 

• Encouraging them to seek professional advice whenever appropriate. 

In this instance the applicant/agent: 

1) Was updated on the progress of the planning application. 

2) The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 

applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 

application. 

 

  

Page 12

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  3 

Description of Proposal 

1 The application seeks permission for the demolition of existing outbuilding and 

erection of a single storey rear extension.  

Description of Site 

2 The site extends to approximately 0.6 hectares and comprises a detached two 

storey dwelling set back from the road and a series of outbuildings located to its 

front and rear. 

3 The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  

Constraints  

4 Green Belt  

Policies 

Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) policies: 

5 Policies - EN1, EN2, GB1. 

Sevenoaks Core Strategy policies:  

6 Policies - SP1, LO8. 

Other 

7 Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) titled Development in the Green Belt 

8 Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) titled Residential Extensions  

9 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

Planning History 

10 TH/5/66/585 Swimming pool. GRANT 10.01.67 

 TH/5/67/92 Portal frame cover to swimming pool. GRANT 04.04.67  

 89/00432/HIST Proposed 2 storey rear extension. GRANT 20.06.1989    

 02/02430/OUT Erection of a single dwelling in front garden including demolition 

of existing storage building and erection of two garages. REFUSED 10.12.02 

 15/01402/PAE Prior notification of a single storey rear extension which extends 

8.0m beyond the rear wall of the original dwelling house with a maximum height 

of 3.0m and eaves height of 3.0m. PRIOR APPROVAL NOT REQUIRED 12.06.15 

Consultations 

Parish Council 

11 Hartley Parish Council object to the application on the following grounds: 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  4 

• The proposal would exceed the permitted 50% increase in floor area of the 

original dwelling, contrary to Green Belt regulations and  

• No special circumstances have been shown in support of the application. 

Should the application be approved, the Council would ask that a 

condition be imposed, requiring the existing outbuilding to be demolished 

prior to any building work commencing. 

Representations 

12 None received  

 

Chief Planning Officer’s Appraisal 

Principal Issues  

13 The principle issues to consider in the determination of this application concern: 

• The principle of the development in the Green Belt, including whether the 

proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and the 

effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt; 

• If it is inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of 

inappropriateness, is clearly outweighed by other considerations, so as to 

amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify the 

development; 

• Impact on the character and appearance of the area.  

• Impact on residential amenity. 

Green Belt  

14 At a National level, the NPPF sets out the criteria against which applications for 

development in the Green Belt shall be assessed. The NPPF states that 

inappropriate development, by definition, is development that is harmful to the 

Green Belt. Paragraph 79 of the document states that the fundamental aim of 

Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; 

the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 

permanence.  

15 The advice in the NPPF states that there is a general presumption against 

inappropriate development within the Green Belt and that such development 

should not be approved except in very special circumstances.  

16 The NPPF indicates that it is for applicants to demonstrate why permission should 

be granted and that very special circumstances to justify inappropriate 

development will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason 

of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 

considerations. 

17 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF, states that a local planning authority should regard the 

construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to 

this include: 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  5 

 “the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 

disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building”; 

18 The NPPF does not empirically define what is considered to be a ‘disproportionate 

addition’, however policy GB1 of the ADMP offers a local interpretation.  

19 Among other criteria, GB1 requires the existing dwelling to be lawful and 

permanent in nature; and requires the design to respond to the original form and 

appearance of the building and the proposed volume of the extension, taking into 

consideration any previous extensions, to be proportional and subservient to the 

'original' dwelling. Furthermore it states that the extension should not materially 

harm the openness of the Green Belt through excessive scale, bulk or visual 

intrusion. Finally, the policy indicates that the total floor space of the proposal, 

together with any previous extensions, alterations and outbuildings should not 

exceed 50% of the original floor space of the property.  

20 The existing dwelling is lawful and permanent in nature.  

21 At single storey the proposed extension would remain proportional and 

subservient to the original dwelling. 

22 A thorough search of the planning history for the site indicates that the dwelling 

has been extended with the benefit of planning permission reference 

SE/89/00432 for a two storey rear extension. No planning permission could be 

found for the original construction of the dwelling. Aerial photography held on the 

Councils geographical information system dated 1922-1969 indicates a dwelling 

in the location of the existing property. The earliest planning applications 

submitted in respect of this property illustrate a dwelling with a comparable 

footprint in the location it is now. I can find no evidence to suggest whether the 

outbuilding proposed for demolition (and located within 5 metres of the dwelling) 

is original. The applicant has not stated either. Consequently, for the purpose of 

calculating floor space I will assume that the outbuilding is not original.  

23 Based on this I have come to the following conclusions: 

 Original property – 154m²  

 50% - 77m² 

 Existing Extensions:  

 Two storey rear extension – 79.48m² 

 Outbuilding – 6.49m² 

 Proposed Extension: 

 23.15m² 

24 The table below is provided in order to clarify, the current position in terms of the 

floor area of the dwelling in its current and proposed form.  

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  6 

 Table 1 

 Floor 

space (m²) 

Total 

Extended 

Floor Space 

(m²) 

Cumulative % increase 

above original dwelling.  

Original dwelling  154   

Two storey extension 1989 79.48 233.48 51.61 

Outbuilding proposed for 

demolition 

6.49 239.97 55.82 

Proposed rear extension 

minus the above outbuilding  

16.66 256.63 66.64 

 

25 The table indicates that based on the information submitted extensions to the 

original dwelling already exceed 50% of the original floor space representing 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  

26 Including the proposed development, and even taking the demolition of the 

existing outbuilding into consideration total extensions to the dwelling would 

increase the original floor space by 102.63m² which represents a 66.64% 

increase in the original floor space. As a consequence cumulatively extensions to 

the dwelling would result in disproportionate additions representing inappropriate 

development in the green belt which is harmful by definition contrary to the NPPF 

and local policy guidance contained in GB1 of the ADMP.  

27 A case for very special circumstances is advanced in the applicants Design, 

Access and Planning Statement. This case is discussed below.  

Extent of Harm 

28 In light of the above, it follows that the proposed extensions would further 

increase the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriate development and 

would result in a continued increase in the gross floor area that would exceed the 

50% limit deemed appropriate by the Council.  

29 The NPPF confirms that the most important aspect of Green Belts is their 

openness and the fundamental aim of Green Belt Policy is to maintain this. It 

states that the open character must be maintained as far as can be seen ahead.  

30 It should be noted that openness is not reliant upon degree of visibility but upon 

an absence of built development. Openness can be diminished by the cumulative 

“footprint” of discreetly sited incremental additions to existing individual buildings 

as much as it can by conspicuous swathes of new development. 

31 The figures indicate that extensions to the dwelling represent an increase in 

overall scale and consequently bulk and massing in comparison to the ‘original’ 

dwelling which occupied the site to a degree which would further erode the 

openness of the site and the Green Belt.  

Page 16

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  7 

32 As discussed in the preceding paragraphs, existing extensions to the dwelling 

already represent disproportionate additions and the proposed development 

would only serve to compound this issue by creating further inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt. 

Impact on character and appearance of the area 

33 The NPPF states that the Government ‘attaches great importance to the design of 

the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 

indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places 

better for people.’ (para. 56) 

34 Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy states that all new development should be 

designed to a high quality and should respond to the distinctive local character of 

the area in which it is situated. Policy EN1 of the ADMP states that the form of the 

proposed development should respond to the scale, height, materials and site 

coverage of the area. The design should be in harmony with adjoining buildings. 

Policy L08 of the Council’s Core Strategy also applies and states that the 

countryside will be conserved and the distinctive features that contribute to the 

special character of its landscape and its biodiversity will be protected and 

enhanced where possible. Development should cause no adverse impact on the 

character of the countryside.  

35 At single storey the rear extension would appear subservient and proportionate to 

the host dwelling. The extension would have a flat roof with a flat glass roof light. 

Although the Council generally seek to resist flat roof extensions the extension 

would be located to the rear of the property where only a private view of the 

development exists. It is therefore screened from the road and wider locality.  Due 

to its overall form and relatively modest proportions the proposal would not be out 

of scale and the existing design is satisfactory when viewed in context with the 

shape and style of the existing building.  

36 As it is located to the rear the ground floor extension would not create any 

inconsistency along this part of Church Road and therefore the proposal would 

not have any unacceptable impact on the street scene.  

37 The property will retain a large amount of garden space and consequently, there 

are no concerns relating to density or site coverage. 

38 The submitted application form states that the existing wall materials consist of 

brick work, tile hanging and painted render and these materials are indicated on 

both the existing and proposed plans. In-fact, this is not the case, the walls to the 

existing dwelling are solely brickwork. However, in my view this minor error on the 

plans does not affect the applications validity particularly as it is noted that it may 

be possible to tile hang and render the property without the benefit of planning 

permission. In any case, the agent has confirmed by email dated 06.10.15 that 

the proposed extension is to be rendered and painted and that this treatment is 

to be carried round to the front of the building. The materials indicated would 

respond to existing materials used within the locality and therefore should not be 

harmful to visual amenity or create any inconsistency. 

39 Overall, for the reasons set out above, in my view the development is subservient 

and proportionate to the host dwelling. It is sufficiently sympathetic in a way which 

would ensure that it would not have a negative or overbearing impact upon the 

character of the host building. As such the proposal would not adversely impact 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  8 

upon the quality, character or visual amenity of the locality, and would not be 

harmful to the appearance of the street scene.  

Impact on residential amenity 

40 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF identifies a set of core land-use planning principles 

that should underpin decision-taking. One of these principles is that planning 

should always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and 

future occupants of land and buildings. 

41 Policy EN2 of the ADMP seeks to safeguard the amenities of existing and future 

occupants of nearby properties, including from excessive noise, activity or vehicle 

movements. 

42 The proposed extension would be located to the rear of the property adjacent to 

the south west boundary which benefits from mature planting which provides a 

robust screen. There is no obvious reason why this planting would need to be 

removed in its entirety to accommodate the proposal.  

43 In addition, the neighbouring property Homecot (who is located closest to the 

development) is set substantially forward of the site of the extension. The 

neighbouring property is sufficiently distanced away so that the development 

would not result in any adverse impact upon amenity by reason of form, scale, 

height, outlook, noise or light intrusion. 

44 Due to the nature of the boundary treatment and the location of the neighbouring 

dwelling, proposed windows would not compromise the neighbours privacy.  

45 It is therefore my view that the proposed development would not have an 

unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties and would comply with the 

aforementioned policy criteria. 

Very Special Circumstances (VSC) 

46 The following case is advanced by the applicant as VSC.  

47 The Government has introduced more flexible forms of “Permitted Development” 

to enable householders to increase their living accommodation without the need 

to obtain a full grant of planning permission.  In this case, the Applicant has 

previously obtained confirmation by way of prior notification that an 8m long 

extension can be provided at this site in the same location as the extension 

currently proposed.  

48 The main difference is that the extension proposed in this application has a 

maximum depth of 5.455m whereas the extension that can be built under 

permitted development extends for 8m.  The current proposal therefore results in 

a reduction in size of approximately ⅓ compared with what could otherwise be 

built. 

49 In all other respects, the proposed extension is of the same size and scale of that 

which can be built as permitted development. 

50 The only significant difference between the two schemes is that the current 

proposal allows the extension to directly adjoin the side wall of the previously 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  9 

permitted two storey rear extension which could not be achieved under permitted 

development because this is not an original wall. 

51 In addition to the above, the extension proposed under this scheme would not 

extend beyond the furthest rear wall of the dwelling as per the scheme which 

could be built under permitted development. Therefore, it is my view that the 

proposed extension represents a more consolidated form of development and 

would be less harmful to the openness and character of the Green Belt than the 

works that can be built as permitted development.  

52 The table below is provided in order to clarify, the current position in terms of the 

floor area of the dwelling in its current form and the position if the applicant were 

to build the extension which can be constructed under permitted development.  

 Table 2 

 Floor space 

(m²) 

Total Extended Floor 

Space (m²) 

Cumulative % 

increase above 

original dwelling.  

Original dwelling  154   

Two storey extension 1989 79.48 233.48 51.61 

Outbuilding proposed for 

demolition 

6.49 239.97 55.82 

Extension proposed under 

permitted development 

minus the above outbuilding 

being demolished 

27.47 267.44 73.66 

Proposed rear extension 

minus the above outbuilding 

16.66 256.63 66.64 

 

53 Table 2 indicates that the extension built under permitted development would 

represent a greater % increase in the floor space of the original dwelling in 

comparison the % increase which would result if the extension currently being 

considered was built. The figures are a 73.66% increase in comparison to 66.64% 

demonstrating that the current proposal would have a lesser impact.  

54 For clarification, other than the extension the subject of prior notification 

reference 15/01402/PAE, it does not appear possible to extend the foot print of 

the property any further under permitted development. However, it may be 

possible to convert and extend the roof which would further increase the 

dwellings scale and bulk. Permitting this development will allow the Local 

Authority to protect the openness of the Green Belt by removing permitted 

development rights to extend the property any further and to erect any more 

outbuildings on the site. Removing these rights can be achieved through 

appropriately worded conditions which would apply to the site if the applicant 

were to implement any subsequent planning permission. Recommended 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  10 

condition 5 removes permitted development rights and condition 6 seeks to 

ensure that with the exception of the outbuilding proposed for removal, only those 

outbuildings which exist on the site at present are retained. If any further 

outbuildings were constructed on site prior to implementing the permitted 

scheme condition 6 secures their removal upon implementation.  

55 In conclusion, whilst both the existing and proposed extensions to the property 

represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt when balanced against 

the benefits arising from permitting this proposal it is considered that in this 

instance the case for VSC would clearly outweigh the harm in principle to the 

Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm.  

Community Infrastructure Levy 

56 The proposal has been assessed against CIL legislation. The proposal is under 

100m2 and is therefore not CIL liable. 

Access Issues 

57 Access to the site is not affected by this proposal.  

Other Matters 

58 The land to the rear of the property is extensive. All of this land is included within 

the red line boundary which illustrates the site. In an email from the agent dated 

13.08.15 it is stated that it is the agents understanding that all of this land forms 

the curtilage to the dwelling.  At the point of the stable block identified on drawing 

number BDS-1298-100 Revision A, there is a post and rail fence. In my view the 

fence appears to demarcate the point at which the residential curtilage ends.  

59 Beyond this fence are stables, and outbuilding, a swimming pool within a building 

which has fallen into a poor state of repair and partially covered with shrubs/trees 

and land which I am told has previously been used for grazing horses, but was not 

being used as such at the time of my site visit. Consequently, in the absence of 

evidence to demonstrate otherwise, in my view not all of the land within the red 

line boundary appears to constitute curtilage and should the need arise the 

Council reserves the right to contest this.  

 

Conclusion 

60 Taking in to account the above quoted polices and very special circumstances, I 

am of the opinion that the proposed extension is an acceptable addition within 

the location. I consider that the proposed development would respect the context 

of the site and would not have a detrimental impact on the character of the area 

or the amenity of neighbours. It is my view that the VSC would clearly outweigh the 

harm in principle to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other 

harm.  

61 It is therefore recommended that this application is approved.  

Background Papers 

Site and Block Plan 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  11 

 

Contact Officer(s): Claire Marchant  Extension: 7367 

Richard Morris  

Chief Planning Officer 

 

Link to application details: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=NR2PW9BKK6Z00  

Link to associated documents: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NR2PW9BKK6Z00  

  

Page 21

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  12 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4.1



(Item 4.1)  13 

Block Plan 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4.1



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Application Information on Public Access – for applications coming to DC 

Committee on Thursday 22nd October 2015 

Item 4.1 – SE/15/02057/HOUSE  San Michele, Church Road, Hartley, Kent  DA3 8DZ 

Link to application details: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=NR2PW9BKK6Z00  

Link to associated documents: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NR2PW9BKK6Z00  

Page 25

Agenda Item 



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4.1 SE/15/02057/HOUSE San Michele, Church Road, Hartley, Kent DA3 8DZ
	 Public Access Links

